

Contents lists available at SciVerse ScienceDirect

Antiviral Research

journal homepage: www.elsevier.com/locate/antiviral



Review

Eliminating canine rabies, the principal source of human infection: What will it take?



F.-X. Meslin a, D.J. Briggs b,*

^a Neglected Zoonotic Diseases, Department of Neglected Tropical Diseases, World Health Organization, Geneva, Switzerland

ARTICLE INFO

Article history: Received 16 November 2012 Revised 28 February 2013 Accepted 5 March 2013 Available online 21 March 2013

Keywords:
Rabies
Canine rabies
Lyssavirus
Rabies prevention
Canine-mediated human rabies
Rabies elimination

ABSTRACT

More than 50,000 people die of rabies each year; most are children in developing countries, and almost all have been bitten by dogs. Eliminating canine rabies throughout the world would save thousands of lives and would reduce the economic impact of the disease by dramatically reducing the requirement for postexposure prophylaxis (PEP). Lengthy experience in the industrialized countries and ongoing programs in Latin America, Africa, and Asia have shown that the elimination of rabies in dogs is an achievable goal. The presence of canine rabies in developing countries is associated with poverty, and most deaths occur in the lowest socioeconomic sectors. To be successful, national rabies control programs should share responsibility with local communities for prevention and control activities and maintaining disease-free status. Legislation should be adapted to local conditions and the realities of dog ownership. While the provision of PEP to all bite victims is affordable in many countries, it is usually beyond the capacity of impoverished nations, which deal with many other health priorities. Ministries of health should provide PEP, either free or with a charge preferably at a subsidized price, replacing the current system in many countries, in which biologics are sold by government-owned and private clinics at a cost beyond the means of bite victims. The public health sector should assume responsibility when animal control strategies are not effectively implemented or when PEP is not administered correctly or is not available. A global strategy is needed to identify gaps in surveillance and diagnosis, improve access to PEP and enhance canine immunization and population management. Such approaches based on a "One Health" model should be coordinated across regions, and should extend control efforts to other dog-related zoonoses. This article introduces a symposium in Antiviral Research on the elimination of canine rabies.

© 2013 Elsevier B.V. All rights reserved.

Contents

1.	Introduction	292
	Rabies: a brief overview	
3.	Pre- and postexposure prophylaxis.	292
4.	The role of dogs in human rabies	292
5.	Canine rabies elimination programs	293
	5.1. Political support	. 293
	5.2. Operational activities	. 293
	5.3. Scientific methods	. 293
6.	Building sustainable programs	294
7.	Future directions	294
8.	Summary	295
	Acknowledgements	295
	References	295

E-mail addresses: meslinf@who.int (F.-X. Meslin), briggs@vet.ksu.edu (D.J. Briggs).

^b Global Alliance for Rabies Control, 529 Humboldt St. Suite One, Manhattan, KS 66502, USA

^{*} Corresponding author.

1. Introduction

When Louis Pasteur successfully used an experimental live attenuated rabies vaccine to treat a child severely bitten by a rabid dog in 1885, he triggered a series of scientific events that would lead to the development of safer and more effective methods to reduce the number of human rabies deaths. We have estimated that the introduction of postexposure prophylaxis (PEP) for rabies has saved more than 20 million lives since 1885 (Meslin, 2012). However, despite the existence of effective PEP, rabies continues to take the lives of the poorest segment of the population in developing countries. Millions of exposures still occur annually, and many are untreated, resulting in tens of thousands of deaths (Knobel et al., 2005; Rupprecht, 2004; WHO, 2005).

In Africa and Asia, where more than 99% of all human cases occur, the domestic dog is the most important source of transmission. The disease disproportionally targets children: between 45 and 60% of all dog bites and human rabies cases occur in children less than 15 years of age (Abubakar and Bakari, 2012; Liu and Ertl, 2012; Osaghae, 2011). Eliminating the circulation of rabies virus in dogs in Africa and Asia would prevent more than 99% of human cases (Lembo et al., 2010; WHO, 2012).

This article introduces a six-part series in *Antiviral Research* examining a strategy to eliminate canine-transmitted human rabies. The authors of these papers believe that it is within our grasp to reduce the global burden of rabies, utilizing currently available tools. Examples of successful canine rabies elimination programs prove that it is possible to prevent most human rabies cases by targeting the major source of infection (Blancou, 2008; Hampson et al., 2007). Because some 75% of infectious diseases in humans are zoonotic, the authors consider that a successful, sustainable rabies prevention program based on a "One Health" approach can serve as the perfect example for governments to build strategies to reduce the burden of other zoonoses (Arambulo, 2011; Wright et al., 2008).

The present article briefly reviews the global epidemiology of canine rabies, its prevention in humans, building sustainable programs for the control and elimination of canine rabies, and future directions for program development. Two accompanying papers examine the economic benefits to developing countries of eliminating canine rabies (Shwiff et al., 2013) and the value of public-private partnerships for rabies prevention (Taylor et al., 2013). Three further articles will focus on rabies control programs in Latin America; the need for national systems of diagnosis, surveillance and risk assessment; and current and future tools for global rabies elimination.

2. Rabies: a brief overview

Rabies is a viral encephalitis that is present on every continent except Antarctica. It has the highest case fatality rate of any infectious disease (WHO, 2010; Rupprecht et al., 2002). Once clinical symptoms are present, humans with rabies almost always die. However, because it is not a reportable disease in most resource-poor countries, and because most patients belong to lower socio-economic groups, the actual number of rabies deaths that occur each year is not known (Lembo et al., 2011; Sudarshan and Ashwath Narayana, 2010). Also, paralytic rabies is often misdiagnosed as another disease, such as malaria or Guillain–Barré Syndrome, thus helping to mask its true global burden (Hemachudha et al., 2002; Mallewa et al., 2007). Such under-reporting has resulted in rabies remaining low on the list of public health priorities for many poor countries.

The lack of effective rabies prevention programs all too often leads to a lack of awareness among the general public of how to prevent the disease after an exposure, so that patients with limited financial resources seek ineffective treatments from local healers. Adding to this problem is the fact that anti-rabies biologicals are often unavailable to those who cannot afford to travel to clinics and purchase them (Warrell et al., 2008).

3. Pre- and postexposure prophylaxis

Human rabies vaccines are among the few biologics that can be used before or after exposure. The World Health Organization (WHO) recommends that pre-exposure prophylaxis (PreP) be administered to persons such as veterinarians, who are at increased risk of exposure (WHO, 2005, 2010). PreP is also a valuable tool for protecting populations in remote, high-risk regions, where prompt PEP is not immediately available. Pre-exposure vaccination is given as a three-dose series of intramuscular or intradermal injections on days 0, 7 and 21 or 28.

Rabies is an unusual disease, in that it can be prevented by prompt wound care and vaccination (WHO, 2010). Wounds inflicted by a suspect rabid animal should be thoroughly washed as soon as possible, following WHO recommendations. PEP includes a 4- or 5-dose series of injections of rabies vaccine, beginning as soon as possible after exposure (WHO, 2005, 2010). Four different vaccine regimens are currently approved by the WHO and the Advisory Committee on Immunization Practices (ACIP) for persons not previously immunized against rabies (Table 1); three are given intramuscularly and one intradermally. There are also three WHO-approved regimens for previously vaccinated individuals (Table 1). Rabies Immune Globulin (RIG) is also an important component of PEP. It should be injected into and around the wound site, ideally on the day of exposure or up to 7 days after the initial dose of vaccine.

Vaccines and RIG are the most important tools to prevent human rabies (Briggs, 2012). However, when governments invest solely in purchasing biologicals, without supporting other essential components of 'holistic' prevention and control programs, the cost of human rabies prevention will continue to escalate, without resolving the underlying problem. Based on current pricing strategies, the most effective and sustainable way to prevent almost all cases of human rabies in Africa and Asia is to eliminate the disease at its major source of infection, unvaccinated dogs (Wunner and Briggs, 2010; Brown, 2011; Wilde et al., 2012).

4. The role of dogs in human rabies

More than 99% of human rabies cases occur in Africa and Asia, where domestic dogs are the most important source of infection (Knobel et al., 2005; Rupprecht, 2004). Virtually 45–60% of dog bite injuries and human deaths occur in children under 15, who rarely understand how rabies is transmitted, and often do not know how to behave around animals, especially dogs living in the same household or community (WHO, 2005). Children who have been bitten or scratched by suspect rabid dogs may therefore not tell their parents or guardians, especially if they have been instructed not to approach animals that are not their own pets (Bhanganada et al., 1993; Bothra et al., 2011; Cleaveland et al., 2003).

Dogs can be protected against rabies by vaccinating animals at risk of exposure. Many canine rabies vaccines are produced around the world by a number of pharmaceutical companies, which provide specific recommendations regarding the age of dogs at primary vaccination and the timing of boosters. However, when mass vaccination programs are being implemented in developing countries, all dogs, including puppies, should be vaccinated whenever the opportunity arises (Lembo et al., 2012; Wandeler et al., 1993).

A number of countries successfully implemented large-scale vaccination programs to eliminate canine rabies during the past

Table 1Pre- and postexposure vaccination regimens currently recommended by the World Health Organization and the Advisory Committee on Immunization Practices. ID: intradermal. IM: intramuscular. From (Manning et al., 2008; WHO, 2010).

Type of vaccination	Number of doses	Number of clinic visits	Route	Schedule (days)		
Pre-exposure Routine	3	3	ID ^a	0.7.21 20		
Koutine	3	3	ID IM ^{a,b}	0, 7, 21 or 28		
Postexposure						
Essen	5	5	IM	0, 3, 7, 14, 28		
Zagreb	4	3	IM	0 (2 doses in each deltoid) 7, 21		
Reduced 4- dose	4	4	IM	0, 3, 7, 14		
Modified thai red cross	8	5	ID	(2 doses on each day) 0, 3, 7, 28		
Postexposure for previously vaccinated persons						
Two-dose	2	2	IM	0, 3		
Four-dose	4	1	ID	(2 doses above each deltoid) 0		

century, dramatically reducing the incidence of the disease in humans (Hampson et al., 2007; Rupprecht et al., 2008; Schneider et al., 2007, 2011). Canine variants of rabies virus have been eliminated from the USA, Canada, Western Europe, Japan, Malaysia, and Hong Kong. Great strides have also been made to eliminate canine rabies from Latin America. Although rabies virus continues to circulate in wildlife such as bats, raccoons, skunks and foxes throughout North and South America, it poses a more distant threat to humans, principally through contact between infected wild animals and unvaccinated pets (Noah et al., 1998; Arambulo, 2008; Castilho et al., 2010).

5. Canine rabies elimination programs

Targets for the elimination of dog and human rabies have been established for all Latin American countries by 2015 and for Southeast Asia by 2020 (ASEAN, 2008, 2012; PAHO, 2008, 2009; SEARO, 2012; WHO, 2012). In the latter region, a five-year plan (2012–2016) aims to halve the number of human rabies deaths. Such regional and national programs to prevent canine-transmitted rabies should not focus only on the purchase of human rabies biologicals. Sustainable control programs require strategic planning, focused on the concept of "One Health," which requires officials responsible for animal and human health to work together. As discussed in the following sections, planning should include political support, carefully orchestrated operational activities and improved use of state-of-the-art scientific methods to enhance data collection and surveillance (Gongal and Wright, 2011).

5.1. Political support

Political support from the highest levels of government is essential to ensure long-term commitment and financial support for all aspects of a canine rabies prevention program. Government officials must understand what is required to eliminate the circulation of rabies in the target area, and be willing to support the program for both the short and long term. One of the most important building blocks for an effective program is the establishment and enforcement of a regulatory and legal framework for canine rabies control (Lembo et al., 2011). This includes the development of national strategies, which will necessarily include representatives of appropriate national ministries such as health, agriculture, environment and education. Legislation must be in place at a national and local level to enforce dog vaccination policies.

As governments begin to develop canine rabies elimination programs, they should develop partnerships with local communities (Lembo et al., 2008, 2011, 2012). Neighborhoods benefit from eliminating the threat of rabies and citizens can help to implement and monitor programs. Local champions for canine rabies elimination are enthusiastic supporters when they are engaged as partners, providing hands-on support at a local level (Lapiz et al., 2012).

Governments must also be involved in public awareness programs that support responsible pet ownership, and do not promote the mass killing of dogs. Mass killing is not effective, alienates the general population and often creates conflict with international organizations (Kahn et al., 2008). It often causes dog owners to hide their dogs or move them to other areas, potentially promoting the spread of rabies. It is also inhumane to use strychnine to kill dogs. Not only does poisoning cause unnecessary pain and suffering, it can also pose a threat to humans and other animals where the poison is distributed. Instead of mass killing, rabies control programs should support the enforcement of international recommendations for the reduction of dog populations (Lembo et al., 2012). Reputable animal welfare organizations are often willing to provide training and assistance for dog handling, spaying and neutering. They can be valuable partners for national governments engaged in sustainable canine rabies control programs (Villa et al., 2010).

5.2. Operational activities

Canine rabies control programs must include experts from both the human and animal health sectors in their daily activities. In many countries, these departments are not connected, and they are often centered in separate locations, but it is essential that they work together. Although the immediate objective is to stop the circulation of rabies virus among dogs, protecting humans is the ultimate goal. Surveillance activities and reports of rabies in animals and humans must therefore be shared across departmental lines. Effective prevention also requires monitoring of dogs involved in potential human exposures. Increased surveillance is also essential to document decreases in the number of animal and human rabies cases. As adequate surveillance is put into place, it is also important to increase the capacity for public health officials to respond to emergencies, such as an outbreak of rabies in a zone where it had previously been eliminated, or the importation of an infected dog into a rabies-free zone.

Research has shown that canine rabies can be eliminated by establishing a 70% level of vaccination coverage (Davlin and Vonville, 2012; WHO, 2005). Ecology studies, including evaluation of the location of the dog population in the region, must be conducted before beginning a mass vaccination campaign. Information on how to set up and conduct such campaigns is freely available online (Andrade et al., 2008; Beran, 1982; Lembo et al., 2012).

Mass communication and awareness are critical for improving community support for rabies control programs, and to save the lives of persons exposed to rabid dogs. Almost every human rabies death has resulted from a lack of awareness that PEP should be administered as soon as possible, or from failure to follow WHO recommendations for wound washing and vaccination (Hemachudha et al., 1999; Wilde, 2007). As a result of the dissemination of prevention and control information and increased public awareness, the utilization of PEP often increases during the initial stages of a rabies control program. Increased access to rabies biologicals is therefore essential to protect exposed persons, in conjunction with dog vaccination.

5.3. Scientific methods

Data collection is a critical component of a successful canine rabies control program. Without accurate data, it is impossible to

evaluate progress and eventually confirm that rabies has been eliminated from the target area. The installation and utilization of an effective data management system must therefore be part of the program strategy from the beginning.

The program directors will ultimately decide what kind of data management system will be utilized. For example, different methods have been used to collect the initial dog population data that is required to plan a vaccination campaign and to ensure that sufficient vaccine is available. If the number and location of the existing dog population are not known, or if different departments use different methods to gather information, data may be missing or non-existent. As a consequence, essential information about vaccine coverage of the dog population will be only guesswork, resulting in program failure. In this regard, new cell-phone technology has begun to allow real-time transfer of information to a central data bank, where it is processed to monitor the stocks and usage of human and dog vaccines, report PEP and the outcome of vaccination campaigns (Halliday et al., 2012).

One of the most important points to be addressed in all canine rabies elimination programs is the ability to collect sufficient samples from suspect animals to adequately assess the presence of rabies. It is also essential to be able to determine the 'risk' of rabies to humans. This often requires an increase in laboratory capacity, so that all suspect rabid animals can be submitted for testing, and to monitor a decrease in infected animals. A national rabies reference laboratory should be responsible for training, data collection and ensuring the quality of other diagnostic testing facilities. Where possible, molecular analysis of submitted specimens should be conducted, to identify rabies virus variants circulating in the target area and establish accurate epidemiological maps detailing the presence and spread of the virus. Enhanced diagnostic testing and evaluation of epidemiological maps are critical components of the level of surveillance needed to ensure the elimination of canine rabies

6. Building sustainable programs

Establishing a canine rabies elimination program in countries with large dog populations requires a major investment of time and money. However, the financial costs to support the increased manpower required for rabies reduction can dramatically improve public health, and can serve as examples for the prevention of other zoonotic diseases. As with any other public health investment, it is important to consider how sustainability can be built into programs from the beginning of the planning process. Establishing sustainability will entail different strategies in different regions.

Long-term government commitment is essential to ensure consistent and easy access to canine rabies vaccine, until the disease has been eliminated. Financial contribution to the cost of vaccination by dog owners can be considered to support sustainability; however, the success of this approach will depend on the local context and situation. Where paying for the veterinary care of dogs is not a common practice, or where financial contributions are set too high, vaccine utilization may be too low to achieve the coverage needed for effective rabies control. The impact of requiring owners to contribute to vaccination costs, and available options for differential contributions, based on an owner's capacity to pay, have received relatively little study. Further evaluation of these approaches would be beneficial. Where dog owners are unwilling or unable to pay at the level required for critical coverage, vaccination should be provided free of cost and balanced against its public health benefits, including reduction in expenditures for PEP.

Any sustainable program will require a high level of community involvement. Where feasible, incorporating information about rabies prevention into the school curriculum will help to educate children, who are most at risk of dog bites. Creating community volunteer associations to serve as 'rabies watchers' to report unattended dogs, dog bites, suspect rabid animals and other concerns is working well in the Philippines (Lapiz et al., 2012). Such associations help keep local citizens involved in their own program. Establishing partnerships between reputable international and local animal welfare organizations and government institutions can also assist in maintaining program sustainability, but there must be a good level of understanding between the organization and the government.

Program sustainability also depends upon enhanced surveil-lance, both before and after canine rabies has been eliminated from an area. The WHO and the World Animal Health Organization have declared that a country or an area may be considered rabies-free if no case of indigenously acquired infection has been confirmed in humans, dogs, cats or other species during the previous 2 years (Kahn et al., 2008; WHO, 2005). In regions where rabies has been eliminated from the resident dog population, infected dogs may occasionally be imported. When active surveillance is in place, such cases can be identified quickly, preventing the disease from re-emerging. The identification and follow-up of an imported case of canine rabies in a "rabies-free" zone should not be considered a program failure, rather it should be seen as a sign of success, since the program successfully detected the case and took appropriate action.

7. Future directions

Because almost all human cases result from the bite from an infected dog, the best way to reduce the global burden of canine-mediated human rabies is to eliminate canine rabies. This approach is much more cost-effective than attempting to expand the availability of PEP, or to integrate rabies vaccination into national immunization programs. Research focusing on humane methods to reduce the fecundity of dogs in countries where an overpopulation of free-roaming animals hampers disease control would be a major step forward. New research investigating the incorporation of a birth control product into rabies vaccines offers hope in the fight against rabies (Bender et al., 2009; Hiby, 2013; Massei, 2013).

Improved education of public health professionals and the public would help enhance basic understanding of rabies prevention. Novel educational methods are beginning to make progress in many countries. For example, Philippine educators have made remarkable strides by including rabies educational activities in elementary school modules (Lembo et al., 2011). However, because many children are not taught in a formal classroom setting, new approaches that could reach a wider population in endemic areas would save lives.

World Rabies Day continues to provide opportunities for communities and international health organizations to get involved in improving awareness of rabies (www.worldrabiesday.org). New communication tools have brought messages to more than 150 countries (Cleaveland et al., 2010). These activities should continue to be supported and individuals are encouraged to educate their own communities. Programs aimed at bringing together professionals from human and veterinary medicine to work together, using a 'One Health' strategy, to begin to develop programs to eliminate canine rabies. A free online resource that brings together all necessary information provides an excellent source of reference (Lembo et al., 2012).

A major cause of human rabies deaths is the lack of funds required for bite victims to travel to a clinic and buy vaccine (Hampson et al., 2011). Fortunately, the number of vaccine

injections and volume per injection site for effective PEP have diminished over the past 30 years, and it is expected that even shorter courses of PreP and PEP will be developed (Rupprecht et al., 2010). Such regimens have shown promising results, and should be further evaluated for possible inclusion in WHO recommendations (Khawplod et al., 2002, 2012; Shantavasinkul and Wilde, 2011). The cost of vaccination can also be lowered by applying PEP by the ID route, as is practiced in all public hospitals and clinics in India, the Philippines, Sri Lanka and Thailand, reducing the volume of vaccine by as much as 80% (Kamoltham et al., 2003). However, ID vaccination is currently available only in large clinics in major metropolitan areas, to which rural and poor populations of most countries do not have access. Substantial savings could also be achieved by acquiring human and dog vaccines at preferential costs, through a mechanism like that of the Global Alliance for Vaccines and Immunization, and by promoting technology transfer for local production.

The use of RIG is rare in Africa. Asia and rural regions in Latin America, due both to the cost of the product and the lack of awareness of most health workers that it is an essential component of PEP in cases of severe exposure. However, just as the large-scale production of rabies vaccines in cell culture has greatly expanded their availability, the manufacture of a cocktail of selected rabies monoclonal antibodies (mAbs) in large quantity, focused on the replacement of RIG, may similarly expand and promote the use of passive immunity in the next decade (Bakker et al., 2008; de Kruif et al., 2007; Goudsmit et al., 2006; Müller et al., 2009).

8. Summary

The most cost-effective strategy to reduce exposure to a disease is to eliminate the source (Zinsstag et al., 2009). For canine-transmitted rabies, this can only be accomplished through a 'One Health' strategy, in which officials responsible for animal and human health work together. This should be considered as a public health goal for Africa and Asia, the two continents currently bearing the brunt of the global rabies burden. We have the tools, we have the knowledge and we now have examples of successful, sustainable canine rabies prevention programs. The accompanying articles in this symposium provide an outline of the strategy required to eliminate human rabies caused by exposure to infected dogs throughout the world.

Acknowledgements

The authors received no financial remuneration for writing this article and have no conflict of interest. The opinions expressed are those of the authors, and do not necessarily represent their institutions.

References

- Abubakar, S.A., Bakari, A.G., 2012. Incidence of dog bite injuries and clinical rabies in a tertiary health care institution: a 10-year retrospective study. Ann. Afr. Med. 11, 108-111.
- Andrade, A.M., Queiroz, L.H., Perri, S.H., Nunes, C.M., 2008. A descriptive profile of the canine population in Aracatuba, Sao Paulo State, Brazil, from 1994 to 2004. Cad. Saude Publica 24, 927-932.
- Arambulo 3rd., P., 2008. International programs and veterinary public health in the Americas-success, challenges, and possibilities. Prev. Vet. Med. 86, 208-215.
- Arambulo, P., 2011. Veterinary public health in the age of "one health". J. Am. Vet. Med. Assoc. 239, 48-49.
- ASEAN, 2008. Report of the ASEAN/FAO/OIE/WHO rabies Workshop. September 2008, Hanoi, Viet Nam. Call for action: towards the elimination of rabies in the ASEAN Member States and the Plus Three Countries. Jakarta, Association of Southeast Asian Nations. http://www.aseanplus3-eid.info/view.php?gid=58 Accessed November 2012.
- ASEAN, 2012. Report of the ASEAN/FAO/OIE/WHO rabies Workshop. January 2012, Chiang Mai, Thailand. ASEAN Secretariat, Jakarta, Indonesia 2012. Accessed November 2012.

- Bakker, A.B., Python, C., Kissling, C.J., Pandya, P., Marissen, W.E., Brink, M.F., Lagerwerf, F., Worst, S., van Corven, E., Kostense, S., Hartmann, K., Weverling, G.J., Uytdehaag, F., Herzog, C., Briggs, D.J., Rupprecht, C.E., Grimaldi, R., Goudsmit, J., 2008. First administration to humans of a monoclonal antibody cocktail against rabies virus: safety, tolerability, and neutralizing activity. Vaccine 26 (47), 5922-5927.
- Bender, S.C., Bergman, D.L., Wenning, K.M., Miller, L.A., Slate, D., Jackson, F.R., Rupprecht, C.E., 2009. No adverse effects of simultaneous vaccination with the immunocontraceptive GonaCon and a commercial rabies vaccine on rabies virus neutralizing antibody production in dogs. Vaccine 27, 7210-7213.
- Beran, G.W., 1982. Ecology of dogs in the Central Philippines in relation to rabies control efforts. Comp. Immunol. Microbiol. Infect. Dis. 5, 265-270.
- Bhanganada, K., Wilde, H., Sakolsataydorn, P., Oonsombat, P., 1993. Dog-bite injuries at a Bangkok teaching hospital. Acta Trop. 55, 249-255. Blancou, J., 2008. The control of rabies in Eurasia: overview, history and
- background. Dev. Biol. (Basel) 131, 3-15. Bothra, R., Bhat, A., Saxena, G., Chaudhary, G., Narang, V., 2011. Dog bite injuries of
- genitalia in male infant and children. Urol. Ann. 3, 167-169.
- Briggs, D.J., 2012. The role of vaccination in rabies prevention. Curr. Opin. Virol. 2, 309-314.
- Brown, K., 2011. Rabid epidemiologies: the emergence and resurgence of rabies in twentieth century South Africa. J. Hist. Biol. 44, 81-101.
- Castilho, J.G., Carnieli, P., Durymanova, E.A., de Oliveira Fahl, W.O., Oliveira, R.N., Macedo, C.I., da Rosa, E.S., Mantilla, A., Carrieri, M.L., Kotait, I., 2010. Human rabies transmitted by vampire bats: antigenic and genetic characterization of rabies virus isolates from the Amazon region (Brazil and Ecuador). Virus Res. 153, 100-105.
- Cleaveland, S., Kaare, M., Tiringa, P., Mlengeya, T., Barrat, J., 2003. A dog rabies vaccination campaign in rural Africa: impact on the incidence of dog rabies and human dog-bite injuries. Vaccine 21, 1965-1973.
- Cleaveland, S., Costa, P., Lembo, T., Briggs, D., 2010. Catalysing action against rabies. Vet. Rec. 167, 422-423.
- Davlin, S.L., Vonville, H.M., 2012. Canine rabies vaccination and domestic dog population characteristics in the developing world: a systematic review. Vaccine 30, 3492-3502.
- de Kruif, J., Bakker, A.B., Marissen, W.E., Kramer, R.A., Throsby, M., Rupprecht, C.E., Goudsmit, J., 2007. A human monoclonal antibody cocktail as a novel component of rabies postexposure prophylaxis. Annu. Rev. Med. 58, 359-368.
- Gongal, G., Wright, A.E., 2011. Human rabies in the WHO Southeast Asia region: forward steps for elimination. Adv. Prev. Med. 2011, 383870. http://dx.doi.org/ 10.4061/2011/383870.
- Goudsmit, J., Marissen, W.E., Weldon, W.C., Niezgoda, M., Hanlon, C.A., Rice, A.B., Kruif, J., Dietzschold, B., Bakker, A.B., Rupprecht, C.E., 2006. Comparison of an anti-rabies human monoclonal antibody combination with human polyclonal anti-rabies immune globulin. J. Infect. Dis. 193, 796-801.
- Halliday, J., Daborn, C., Auty, H., Mtema, Z., Lembo, T., Bronsvoort, B.M., Handel, I., Knobel, D., Hampson, K., Cleaveland, S., 2012. Bringing together emerging and endemic zoonoses surveillance. shared challenges and a common solution. Phil. Trans. R. Soc. 367, 2872-2880.
- Hampson, K., Dushoff, J., Bingham, J., Brückner, G., Ali, Y.H., Dobson, A., 2007. Synchronous cycles of domestic dog rabies in sub-Saharan Africa and the impact of control efforts, Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. 104, 7717-7722, http:// dx.doi.org/10.1073/pnas.0609122104.
- Hampson, K., Cleaveland, S., Briggs, D., 2011. Evaluation of cost-effective strategies for rabies post-exposure vaccination in low-income countries, PLoS Negl. Trop. Dis. 5, e982. http://dx.doi.org/10.1371/journal.pntd.0000982.
- Hemachudha, T., Mitrabhakdi, E., Wilde, H., Vejabhuti, A., Siripataravanit, S., Kingnate, D., 1999. Additional reports of failure to respond to treatment after rabies exposure in Thailand, Clin, Infect, Dis. 28, 143-144.
- Hemachudha, T., Laothamatas, J., Rupprecht, C.E., 2002. Human rabies: a disease of complex neuropathogenetic mechanisms and diagnostic challenges. Lancet Neurol. 1, 101-109.
- Hiby, E. 2013. Dog population management, in: McPherson, C.N.L., Meslin, F.-X., Wandeler, A. (Eds), Dogs, Zoonoses and Public Health, second edition. CAB International, Croydon, UK. pp. 177–204. (259–270).
 Kahn, S., Stuardo, L., Rahman, S.A., 2008. OIE guidelines on dog population control.
- Dev. Biol. (Basel) 131, 511-516.
- Kamoltham, T., Singhsa, J., Promsaranee, U., Sonthon, P., Mathean, P., Thinyounyong, W., 2003. Elimination of human rabies in a canine endemic province in Thailand: five-year programme. Bull. World Health Org. 81, 375-381.
- Khawplod, P., Benjavongkulchai, M., Limusanno, S., Chareonwai, S., Kaewchompoo, W., Tantawichien, T., Wilde, H., 2002. Four-site intradermal postexposure boosters in previously rabies vaccinated subjects. J. Travel Med. 9, 153-155.
- Khawplod, P., Jaijaroensup, W., Sawangvaree, A., Prakongsri, S., Wilde, H., 2012. One clinic visit for pre-exposure rabies vaccination (a preliminary one year study). Vaccine 30, 2918-2920.
- Knobel, D.L., Cleaveland, S., Coleman, P.G., Fevre, E.M., Meltzer, M.I., Miranda, M.E., Shaw, A., Zinsstag, J., Meslin, F.X., 2005. Re-evaluating the burden of rabies in Africa and Asia. Bull. World Health Org. 83, 360-368.
- Lapiz, S.M., Miranda, M.E., Garcia, R.G., Daguro, L.I., Paman, M.D., Madrinan, F.P., Rances, P.A., Briggs, D.J., 2012. Implementation of an intersectoral program to eliminate human and canine rabies: the bohol rabies prevention and elimination project. PLoS Negl. Trop. Dis. 6 (12), e1891. http://dx.doi.org/10.1371/ iournal.pntd.0001891.
- Lembo, T., Hampson, K., Haydon, D.T., Craft, M., Dobson, A., Dushoff, J., Cleaveland, S., 2008. Exploring reservoir dynamics: a case study of rabies in the Serengeti ecosystem. J. Appl. Ecol. 45, 1246-1257.

- Lembo, T., Hampson, K., Kaare, M.T., Ernest, E., Knobel, D., Kazwala, R.R., Haydon, D.T., Cleaveland, S., 2010. The feasibility of canine rabies elimination in Africa: dispelling doubts with data. PLoS Negl. Trop. Dis. 4, e626.
- Lembo, T., Attlan, M., Bourhy, H., Cleaveland, S., Costa, P., de Balogh, K., Dodet, B., Fooks, A.R., Hiby, E., Leanes, F., Meslin, F.X., Miranda, M.E., Mueller, T., Nel, L.H., Rupprecht, C.E., Tordo, N., Tumpey, A., Wandeler, A., Briggs, D.J., 2011. Renewed global partnerships and redesigned roadmaps for rabies prevention and control. Vet. Med. Int. 2011, 923149.
- Lembo, T., 2012. The blueprint for rabies prevention and control: a novel operational toolkit for rabies elimination. PLoS Negl. Trop. Dis. 6, e1388.
- Liu, Q., Ertl, H.C., 2012. Preventative childhood vaccination to rabies. Exp. Opin. Biol. Ther. 12, 1067–1075.
- Mallewa, M., Fooks, A.R., Banda, D., Chikungwa, P., Mankhambo, L., Molyneux, E., Molyneux, M.E., Solomon, T., 2007. Rabies encephalitis in malaria-endemic area, Malawi. Afr. Emerg. Infect. Dis. 13, 136–139.
- Manning, S.E., Rupprecht, C.E., Fishbein, D., Hanlon, C.A., Lumlertdacha, B., Guerra, M., Meltzer, M.I., Dhankhar, P., Vaidya, S.A., Jenkins, S.R., Sun, B., Hull, H.F., Advisory Committee on Immunization Practices Centers for Disease Control and Prevention (CDC). 2008. Human rabies prevention—United States, 2008: recommendations of the avisory Committee on Immunization Practices. MMWR Recomm. Rep. May 23;57(RR-#):1–28.
- Massei, G., 2013. Fertility control in dogs. In: McPherson, C.N.L., Meslin, F.-X., Wandeler, A. (Eds.), Dogs, Zoonoses and Public Health, second Edition. CAB International, Croydon, UK, pp. 259–270.
- Meslin, F.M. 2012. The Louis Pasteur Oration. Paper presented at the Association for the Prevention of Rabies in India Conference, Kolkata India. July 6–8, 2012.
- Müller, T., Dietzschold, B., Ertl, H., Fooks, A.R., Freuling, C., Fehlner-Gardiner, C., Kliemt, J., Meslin, F.X., Franka, R., Rupprecht, C.E., Tordo, N., Wanderler, A.I., Kieny, M.P., 2009. Development of a mouse monoclonal antibody cocktail for post-exposure rabies prophylaxis in humans. PLoS Negl. Trop. Dis. 3, e542.
- Noah, D.L., Drenzek, C.L., Smith, J.S., Krebs, J.W., Orciari, L., Shaddock, J., Sanderlin, D., Whitfield, S., Fekadu, M., Oslon, J.G., Rupprecht, C.E., Childs, J.E., 1998. Epidemiology of human rabies in the United States, 1980–1996. Ann. Int. Med. 128, 922–930.
- Osaghae, D.O., 2011. Animal and human bites in children. West Afr. J. Med. 30, 421–424.
- PAHO. 2008. 15th inter-American meeting at ministerial level, on health and agriculture. Rio de Janeiro, Brazil, 11–12 June 2008. World Health Organization/Pan American Health Organization (RIMSA15/1, Rev. 2 (Sp.). 10 December 2007).
- PAHO. 2009. Pan American Health Organization (2009) Resolution CD49.R9. Elimination of Neglected Diseases and Other Poverty-Related Infections. Forty-ninth Directing Council. Washington DC: PAHO. http://new.paho.org/hq/index.php?option=com_content&task=view&id=2372&Itemid=1967.
- Rupprecht, C.E., 2004. A tale of two worlds: public health management decisions in human rabies prevention. Clin. Infect. Dis. 39, 281–283.
- Rupprecht, C.E., Hanlon, C.A., Hemachudha, T., 2002. Rabies re-examined. Lancet Infect. Dis. 2, 327–343.
- Rupprecht, C.E., Barrett, J., Briggs, D., Cliquet, F., Fooks, A.R., Lumlertdacha, B., Meslin, F.X., Muller, T., Nel, L.H., Schneider, C., Tordo, N., Wandeler, A.I., 2008. Can rabies be eradicated? Dev. Biol. (Basel) 131, 95–121.
- Rupprecht, C.E., Briggs, D., Brown, C.M., Franka, R., Katz, S. L., Kerr, H.D., Lett, S.M., Levis, R., Meltzer, M.I., Schaffner, W., Cieslak, P.R. 2010. Use of a reduced

- (4-dose) vaccine schedule for postexposure prophylaxis to prevent human rabies: recommendations of the advisory committee on immunization practices. M.M.W.R. Recomm. Rep. 59(RR-2), 1–9.
- Schneider, M.C., Belotto, A., Ade, M.P., Hendrickx, S., Leanes, L.F., Rodrigues, M.J., Medina, G., Correa, E., 2007. Current status of human rabies transmitted by dogs in Latin America. Cad. Saude Publica 23, 2049–2063.
- Schneider, M.C., Aguilera, X.P., Barbosa da Silva, J., Ault, S.K., Najera, P., Martinez, J., Requejo, R., Nicholls, R.S., Yadon, Z., Silva, J.C., Leanes, L.F., Periago, M.R., 2011. Elimination of neglected diseases in Latin America and the Caribbean: a mapping of selected diseases. PLoS Negl. Trop. Dis. 5, e964.
- SEARO. 2012. Report of the informal Consultation to finalize a regional strategy framework for the elimination of Human rabies transmitted by dogs in the South East Asia Region. June 2011, Bangkok, Thailand. SEARO, New Delhi, 2012. WHO Regional Office. SEA-CD-251. Mahatma Gandhi Marg, New Delhi.
- Shantavasinkul, P., Wilde, H., 2011. Postexposure prophylaxis for rabies in resourcelimited/poor countries. Adv. Virus Res. 79, 291–307.
- Shwiff, S., Anderson, A., Hampson, K., 2013. Potential economic benefits of eliminating canine rabies. Antivir. Res. 98, 352–356.
- Sudarshan, M.K., Ashwath Narayana, D.H., 2010. A survey of hospitals managing human rabies cases in India. Indian J. Public Health 54, 40–41.
- Taylor, L., and Partners for Rabies Prevention, 2013. The role of public private partnerships in rabies control. Antivir. Res. 98, 314–318.
- Villa, D.P., Kahn, S., Stuardo, L., Iannetti, L., Di Nardo, A., Serpell, J.A., 2010. Free-roaming dog control among OIE-member countries. Prev. Vet. Med. 97, 58-63
- Wandeler, A.I., Matter, H.C., Kappeler, A., Budde, A., 1993. The ecology of dogs and canine rabies: a selective review. Rev. Sci. Tech. 12, 51–71.
- Warrell, M.J., Riddell, A., Yu, L.M., Phipps, J., Diggle, L., Bourhy, H., Deeks, J.J., Fooks, A.R., Audry, L., Brookes, S.M., Meslin, F.X., Moxon, R., Pollard, A.J., Warrell, D.A. 2008. A Simplified 4-Site Economical Intradermal Post-Exposure Rabies Vaccine Regimen: A Randomised Controlled Comparison with Standard Methods. PLoS NTD Dis. April; 2(4): e224.
- WHO, 2005. Expert Consultation on rabies. World Health Org. Tech. Rep. Ser. 931, 1–88.
- WHO, 2010. Rabies vaccines: WHO position paper-recommendations. Vaccine 28, 7140-7142.
- WHO, 2012. Accelerating work to overcome the global impact of neglected tropical diseases. A roadmap for implementation. WHO/HTM/NTD/2012.1, 1-15.
- Wilde, H., 2007. Failures of post-exposure rabies prophylaxis. Vaccine 25, 7605-7609
- Wilde, H., Hemachudha, T., Wacharapluesadee, S., Lumlertdacha, B., Tepsumethanon, V., 2012. Rabies in Asia: The Classical Zoonosis. Curr. Top. Microbiol. Immunol..
- Wright, J.G., Jung, S., Holman, R.C., Marano, N.N., McQuiston, J.H., 2008. Infection control practices and zoonotic disease risks among veterinarians in the United States. J. Am. Vet. Med. Assoc. 232, 1863–1872.
- Wunner, W.H., Briggs, D.J., 2010. Rabies in the 21 century. PLoS Negl. Trop. Dis. 4, e591.
- Zinsstag, J., Durr, S., Penny, M.A., Mindekem, R., Roth, F., Menendez, S., Naissengar, S., Hattendorf, J., 2009. Transmission dynamics and economics of rabies control in dogs and humans in an African city. Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. USA 106, 14996–15001.